### IN THE SUPREME COURT

## OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

DAWN HASSELL, et al. Plaintiffs and Respondents,

VS.

AVA BIRD, Defendant,

YELP, INC., Appellant.

SUPREME COURT FILED

NOV 2 1 2016

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

Deputy

After a Decision by the Court of Appeal
First Appellate District, Division Four, Case No. A143233
Superior Court of the County of San Francisco
Case No. CGC-13-530525, The Honorable Ernest H. Goldsmith

### YELP INC.'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

## DAVIS WRIGHT TREMAINE LLP

THOMAS R. BURKE thomasburke@dwt.com (SB# 141930)
\*ROCHELLE L. WILCOX rochellewilcox@dwt.com (SB# 197790)
505 Montgomery Street, Suite 800, San Francisco, CA 94111-6533

## I. ISSUES PRESENTED

1. This Court has recognized a narrow exception to the requirement that a non-party to litigation receive notice and an opportunity to be heard before an order is entered that may be applied to that non-party, limiting that exception to cases where the non-party is acting in concert with a party, or the party can only act through others (such as a union that can only act through its members).

Can that narrow exception be extended to a non-party without any factual findings to support that extension, thus allowing courts to deprive online publishers of notice and the right to be heard before infringing their First Amendment rights by ordering them to remove online content?

2. 47 U.S.C. § 230(c)(1) and (e)(3) prohibit courts from treating any "provider ... of an interactive computer service ... as the publisher or speaker of any information provided by another content provider," and, separately, from permitting a "cause of action [to] be brought" or "liability [to] be imposed" if it is "inconsistent with this section."

Despite Section 230's statutory immunity, may a court enjoin a website publisher and require it to remove third-party created content from its website—and impose contempt citations and related liabilities that might flow from a failure to abide by such an injunction—merely because the plaintiff chose not to name the website publisher as a party in the litigation?

## II. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Yelp Inc.<sup>1</sup> learned for the first time that a prior restraint had been entered against it when a copy was delivered to its registered agent for service of process. A00537-547. The default Judgment that included that prior restraint required Yelp—a non-party to the underlying lawsuit—to remove reviews critical of Plaintiffs from its website and to not publish *future* postings from two Yelp accounts. A00213. Although Yelp had been given no advance notice that Plaintiffs were seeking a prior restraint against it, the trial court denied Yelp's motion to vacate the Judgment. A00808-810.

The court of appeal affirmed, invoking a narrow exception to basic due process rights that was created to prevent parties from evading an injunction through gamesmanship. Op. 18-19. On review, the appellate court did not find, or even consider whether, Yelp had engaged in such misconduct, and did not analyze Yelp's connections with the actual defendant. The appellate Opinion contemplates contempt and sanctions

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Along with Yelp's related websites and mobile applications, Non-Party Appellant Yelp Inc. is referred to simply as "Yelp" in this Brief.

Plaintiffs Dawn L. Hassell and the Hassell Law Group are referred to collectively as "Hassell" or "Plaintiffs."

Citations to the three-volume Appendix filed in the court of appeal are denominated "A00XXX."

Citations to the appellate court's Memorandum Opinion are to "Op."

Citations to the concurrently-filed Request for Judicial Notice are to the "RJN."

proceedings against Yelp if it refuses to comply, although Yelp has no more connection with the enjoined party than it has with the tens of millions of other third-party authors whose reviews it hosts on Yelp, and engaged in no wrongful conduct.

The court of appeal's due process analysis was flawed at virtually every step. Initially, the court misread U.S. Supreme Court authority that unequivocally requires notice and an opportunity to be heard in connection with orders restraining the distribution of speech. The appellate court held that no *prior* hearing was required. Op. 23. And while it may be true that in a narrow category of cases, courts may enjoin speech without a *prior* hearing, the law also is clear that a *prompt* hearing is constitutionally required to give the enjoined party an opportunity to oppose entry of an injunction against it. That did not happen here. Section IV.A. infra.

To support its decision, the appellate court grossly expanded a narrow exception to due process, which gives courts leeway to apply injunctions to non-parties who—after the injunction is entered—are proven to have acted in collusion with the enjoined party, such as agents and abettors of that party. Without analyzing whether these cases should be extended to this very different factual scenario involving Internet speech, the court turned this exception into a general rule, which now allows courts to expressly name non-parties in injunctions without any factual findings of

misconduct. In doing so, the court rendered meaningless the careful guidelines California courts have adopted to limit the scope of this narrow exception, giving defamation litigants worldwide an incentive to forum shop in California and a roadmap to circumvent due process rights here. Section IV.B, *infra*.

The court reached its conclusion only by pretending that Yelp is nothing more than the "administrator" of its website, ignoring Yelp's role as a publisher of third-party authored speech and its First Amendment right to control its own website. It also invoked this Court's decision in *Balboa Island Village Inn, Inc. v. Lemen* (2007) 40 Cal.4th 1141 ("*Balboa Island*") to support the prior restraint it entered against Yelp, while ignoring the fact that in *Balboa Island* this Court narrowly approved an injunction entered against a *party* following a *contested trial*, and nowhere suggested that courts may permit injunctions against *non-parties* following *default proceedings*. None of the cases cited by the court of appeal support its rejection of Yelp's First Amendment rights here. Section IV.C, *infra*.

The court of appeal combined its unwarranted rejection of Yelp's due process and First Amendment rights, with an unprecedented *narrowing* of the previously robust protection provided by the Communications

Decency Act, 47 U.S.C. § 230 ("Section 230"), to deny Yelp the federal immunity it would have received if Hassell had sued it. The court exalted the form of the action—namely, the fact that Yelp was tactically not named

as a party—over the plain language of Section 230 and Congress' clear intent in enacting it to protect websites from actions that treat them as publishers or distributors of third-party content.

Section 230 immunity plays a vital role in the legal landscape that has allowed the Internet to flourish. As this Court noted a decade ago in its sole decision evaluating Section 230, "[t]he provisions of section 230(c)(1), conferring broad immunity on Internet intermediaries, are [] a strong demonstration of legislative commitment to the value of maintaining a free market for online expression." *Barrett v. Rosenthal* (2006) 40 Cal.4th 33, 56 ("*Barrett*"). In *Barrett*, this Court made clear that Section 230 immunizes website operators from actions by disgruntled businesses hoping to punish them for allowing third-party content—even defamatory content—to remain on their websites. *Id.* at 39-40. Section V.A, *infra*.

The court of appeal followed *Barrett* in name alone. Op. 27. Yelp established its right to Section 230 immunity by demonstrating that (1) Yelp is a "provider or user of an interactive computer service"; (2) Hassell seeks to treat Yelp as a "publisher or speaker" of the content at issue; and (3) the action is based on "information provided by another information content provider." 47 U.S.C. § 230(c)(1). Courts across the country consistently have held that Section 230 protection precludes injunctive relief. *E.g.*, *Kathleen R. v. City of Livermore* (2001) 87 Cal.App.4th 684, 697-98 ("*Kathleen R.*"). The broad protection the United

States Congress intended when it enacted Section 230 protects Yelp here. Section V.B, *infra*.

The appellate court rejected Yelp's Section 230 defense only by treating Yelp "as the publisher or speaker" of the information provided by Bird, contrary to the plain language of Section 230(c)(1). Specifically, the court affirmed an injunction imposed on Yelp by stretching due process law to conclude that Yelp was acting "with or for" Bird (Op. 30-31)—treating Yelp as standing in Bird's shoes solely based on Yelp's role as an online publisher of her alleged content. The court's misinterpretation of Section 230 is utterly inconsistent with its due process holding—a contradiction that injects confusion into each of these legal principles. Its decision was flawed at every step, and must be reversed. Section V.C, infra.

Viewed only through the prism of review websites such as Yelp,
Section 230's broad protection of websites that publish third-party content
plainly serves the public interest. *E.g., Edwards v. District of Columbia*(D.C. Cir. 2014) 755 F.3d 996, 1006 ("[f]urther incentivizing a quality
consumer experience are the numerous consumer review websites, like
Yelp ..., which provide consumers a forum to rate the quality of their
experiences"). If Yelp and entities like it are denied their right to exercise
editorial control in publishing consumer reviews, this will provide
businesses an effective tool to remove critical commentary and consumers
will suffer.

But the appellate decision reaches far beyond this single area, vast though it may be. Internet publishers routinely display third-party content, including political organizations, media entities, and repositories of creative content such as YouTube, to name only a few. Some of this content entertains or educates, while some simultaneously offends, and much of it walks a line between protected and unprotected speech. The value of such content lies in the diversity and disparate views and opinions offered online.

This does not leave plaintiffs like Hassell without a remedy—although if it did it would not matter because Congress' intent controls. For twenty years, Congress has insisted that plaintiffs look to the content creator alone for a remedy, through tools such as judgment liens and contempt proceedings—post-judgment options that Hassell never pursued here. During those twenty years, no court has approved Hassell's stratagem of denying a website publisher its due process rights in order to tactically avoid the immunity Congress established through Section 230. The appellate court's blessing of the injunction entered against Yelp, following an *uncontested* hearing to prove up the default judgment against Bird alone (A00213), is a new loophole that this Court should close, lest future plaintiffs exploit it to escape Section 230's broad immunity.

If this Court were to affirm the appellate court's opinion, Yelp and other websites would suffer and the public that relies on the wealth of

online third-party commentary—to aid decision-making on myriad issues like consumer purchases, politics, and employment— would be harmed as subjects of criticism follow Hassell's example: intentionally sue the commenter alone, perhaps in a manner that maximizes the chance that he or she will be unable or unwilling to defend the lawsuit regardless of its underlying merit, and then after a default judgment present the injunction to the website publisher as an unassailable fait accompli. As the Amicus letters supporting review explained, people across the world are invoking the appellate decision to demand that website publishers remove content they do not like, or reconfigure their websites to hide that content. E.g., Amicus Letter of Google, Inc., dated August 10, 2016, at 3; Amicus Letter of Glassdoor, Inc., dated August 15, 2016, at 2. This case is only one of many different attempts to misuse the court system in the hope of stifling speech on the Internet. E.g., RJN Exs. A-C. The court of appeal's decision threatens to undermine the validity and efficacy of the information available to consumers, and online speech generally. Yelp respectfully requests that this Court reverse that decision.

## III. STATEMENT OF FACTS AND PROCEDURE

A. Yelp Publishes Tens of Millions of Third-Party Authored Reviews.

Yelp allows any member of the public to read and write online reviews about local businesses, government services, and other entities.

A00240. Yelp is available to the public at no charge and without any registration requirement. *Id.* Those who register by creating an account may write reviews about businesses and service providers, and thus contribute to a growing body of tens of millions of publicly-available consumer reviews. *Id.* Tens of millions of other users read the reviews on Yelp when making a wide range of consumer and other decisions. *Id.* The businesses listed on Yelp also can create free accounts, which allow them to publicly respond to any review, with such a response appearing next to the original review. *Id.* Individuals posting reviews on Yelp can remove them at any time. A00841. As Yelp's website explains, it applies automated software to all reviews posted in an attempt to provide the most helpful reviews to consumers. A00519.

- B. Hassell Obtains An Injunction Against Yelp Without Giving It Any Notice.
  - 1. Third-Party Users Write Critical Reviews About Hassell Law Group On Yelp.

Hassell, a San Francisco attorney, owns The Hassell Law Group, P.C. A00006. According to Hassell's Complaint, Bird suffered a personal injury on June 16, 2012, and retained The Hassell Law Group. A00002-3. After a few months, Hassell ended the attorney-client relationship. *Id.* On January 28, 2013 a user with the screen name "Birdzeye B." posted a one-star review of The Hassell Law Group on Yelp, complaining that "dawn hassell made a bad situation much worse for me" and accusing Hassell of

failing to communicate with her and abandoning her as a client, among other things. A00018. Believing that "Birdzeye B." was Bird, Hassell sent Bird an email that day, requesting she remove the "factual inaccuracies and defamatory remarks" from Yelp. A00005. Bird replied the next day, complaining about Hassell's representation. A00348.

2. Hassell Sues Bird And Obtains A Default Judgment, Which Includes An Injunction Against Yelp.

On April 10, 2013, Dawn Hassell individually, and the Hassell Law Group P.C., filed a complaint against Bird, but not Yelp, in San Francisco Superior Court. A00002. The suit asserted claims based on two allegedly defamatory reviews—one by Birdzeye B. and another by a reviewer identified as J.D. (A00004-5)<sup>2</sup>—and sought compensatory and punitive damages. It also sought injunctive relief against Bird only. A00013. Although the Birdzeye B. public account profile stated that its creator lived in Los Angeles (A00091), Bird was served through substitute service on the owner of the Oakland home in which Bird was injured, who told the process server that he had not seen Bird in months. A00026. On July 11, 2013, the court entered a default against Bird. A00023.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The "J.D." review accused Hassell of improperly deducting costs from a settlement. A00020. Hassell claimed that "J.D." was Bird based on the review's use of capitalization, despite the content being at odds with the original challenged statement. A00034, A00099.

On November 1, 2013, Hassell filed a Summary of the Case in Support of Default Judgment and Request for Injunctive Relief. A00033-36. Hassell significantly expanded the relief being sought as described in the Complaint, adding another allegedly defamatory statement to her claim (A00036, A00102)<sup>3</sup> and demanding for the first time that the court "make an order compelling Defendant and Yelp to *remove* the defamatory statements, including all entire posts, immediately. If for any reason Defendant does not remove them all by the Court-ordered deadline (which is likely given Defendant's refusal to answer the complaint), *the Court should order Yelp.com to remove all 3 of them.*" A00051 (emphasis in original).

Plaintiffs' Request for Judgment went further, seeking "an Order ordering Yelp.com to remove the reviews and subsequent comments of the reviewer within 7 business days of the date of the court's Order." A00051 (emphasis added). Hassell intentionally did not serve her application for default judgment on Yelp or otherwise notify Yelp about it. A00243; see also A00837. The court granted the requested injunction, including the part ordering non-party Yelp to remove the existing comments and any "subsequent" comments posted by "Birdzeye B." or "J.D." A00213. The court made no factual findings as to Yelp. Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> She added another post from Birdzeye B. that accused Hassell of trying to "threaten, bully, intimidate, harrass [sic]" her into removing the reviews. A00036, A00102.

## C. The Trial Court Denies Yelp's Motion To Vacate The Injunction.

On January 28, 2014, Yelp's registered agent for service of process received a letter enclosing a Notice of Entry of Judgment and threatening Yelp with contempt proceedings if it did not comply with the Judgment. A00537-547. On February 3, 2014, Yelp responded to Hassell by letter stating that as a non-party that did not receive notice or an opportunity to be heard, Yelp was not bound by the terms of the Judgment. A00548-550. Yelp further explained that Section 230 precludes enforcement of the prior restraint, or liability as to Yelp. A00549. Hassell did not respond until April 30, 2014. She claimed that her office was "currently setting a motion to enforce the court's order against Yelp," but did not respond substantively to Yelp's position. A00551.

On May 23, 2014, Yelp moved to vacate the Judgment. A00225-470. Hassell opposed Yelp's Motion to Vacate. A00471-572. On September 29, 2014, the trial court denied Yelp's Motion. A00808. It quoted from *Ross v. Superior Court* (1977) 19 Cal.3d 899, 906 ("*Ross*"), and *Berger v. Superior Court* (1917) 175 Cal. 719, 721 ("*Berger*"), to hold that injunctions may run to non-parties who are aiding and abetting an enjoined person to violate an injunction, and concluded that Yelp fit within this exception to general due process requirements. A00808-809. It

implicitly rejected Yelp's claim to immunity under Section 230, not even referencing it in its order. *Id.*<sup>4</sup>

## D. The Court Of Appeal Affirms The Trial Court's Decision.

In a published decision, the court of appeal affirmed the trial court's conclusion that Yelp was bound by the prior restraint. Op. 1-2. As relevant here, the court characterized the portion of the Judgment requiring Yelp to remove content from its website as a "removal order" (A00212-213)—not an injunction (Op. 1)—and without any explanation, treated the "removal order" as if it were separate from the Judgment. *E.g.*, Op. 10-11 (concluding that Yelp was not aggrieved by the default judgment, but was aggrieved by the removal order).<sup>5</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> During oral argument on Yelp's motion, the trial court expressed disbelief that the statute could mean what this Court, and uniform federal courts nationwide, have said it means. The trial court complained to Yelp's counsel that "[w]hat you're saying is you can post any kind of defamatory information for the world to see, and you can say, we don't have anything to do with it. We don't care if they say Ms. Hassell shot her mother, or something like that. It doesn't make any difference. I think your position is a very hard one to swallow." A00834:6-11. While this Court expressed similar reservations about the statute, it followed Congress' directive and held that as a matter of law, websites like Yelp cannot be held liable for content posted by third parties, even if the content is defamatory. *Barrett*, 40 Cal.4th at 62-63.

<sup>5</sup> Some of the court's holdings grew out of this novel characterization of the injunction against Yelp, and its Opinion ultimately turned on its conclusion that Yelp was not subject to an injunction at all. E.g., Op. 29 ("[a]gain though, the party that was enjoined from publishing content in this case was Bird, ...."). Title aside, the "removal order" is a classic injunction and the court of appeal plainly erred by treating it as anything else. See, e.g., PV Little Italy, LLC v. MetroWork Condominium Ass'n (2012) 210 Cal.App.4th 132, 143 n.5 (order returning control of

After evaluating Yelp's standing to appeal (issues not raised here), the appellate court rejected Yelp's argument that due process barred enforcement of the injunction against it. Op. 18-23. The court noted, first, that "An Injunction Can Run Against a Nonparty." Op. 18. Citing a handful of cases, the court concluded that "settled principles undermine Yelp's theory that the trial court was without any authority to include a provision in the Bird judgment which ordered Yelp to effectuate the injunction against Bird by deleting her defamatory reviews." Op. 19.

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