No. S235968

IN THE SUPREME COURT
OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

DAWN L. HASSELL and HASSELL LAW GROUP, P.C.,
Plaintiffs and Respondents

v.

YELP, INC.
Appellant.

SUPREME COURT
FILED

JAN 24 2017

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

After a Decision by the Court of Appeal
First Appellate District, Division Four, Case No. A143233

Deputy

Appeal from the Superior Court of the State of California,
County of San Francisco, Case No. CGC-13-53025,
The Honorable Donald J. Sullivan and the Honorable Ernest H. Goldsmith,
presiding

RESPONDENTS' ANSWERING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

*MONIQUE OLIVIER SBN 190835
monique@dplolaw.com
J. ERIK HEATH SBN 304683
erik@dplolaw.com
DUCKWORTH PETERS
LEBOWITZ OLIVIER LLP

I. ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Does Yelp, an internet company that sells advertising to businesses and also permits third parties to post anonymous, unvetted and unedited reviews of those businesses, have a First Amendment right to post, in perpetuity, other people's statements that have been judicially determined to be defamatory? (No.)

2. Did the Court of Appeal err in adhering to this Court's precedent and holding that Yelp was not deprived of due process by the trial court's issuance of a removal order requiring Yelp to take down three postings that had been judicially determined to be defamatory? (No.)

3. Did the Court of Appeal err in finding that the Communications Decency Act, 47 United States Code section 230 *et seq.*, does not prevent the court from enforcing a valid order against a named individual through Yelp? (No.)

II. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Despite Yelp's overblown rhetoric, the issue before the Court is an exceedingly narrow one: May Yelp, an internet company that sells advertising to businesses and also allows third parties to post anonymous, unvetted and unedited reviews of those businesses, republish, in perpetuity, three postings that have been judicially determined to be defamatory? No reasonable reading of the law permits the answer to be yes.

Yelp invokes the First Amendment, the Due Process clause, and the federal Communications Decency Act. None of these law allows Yelp to ignore a court order preventing the republication of libel.

This case is not a First Amendment case involving merely critical reviews. Indeed, below its surface arguments, Yelp (1) acknowledges that the defamation judgment is against Bird, not Yelp; and (2) does not dispute

that it has no standing to challenge the underlying defamation judgment against Bird. (OBM, 14).¹ As this Court and the U.S. Supreme Court have held repeatedly, defamatory speech has long been recognized to fall outside the scope of First Amendment protections. (See *Ashcroft v. Free Speech Coalition* (2002) 535 U.S. 234, 245-246; *Keeton v. Hustler Magazine, Inc.* (1984) 465 U.S. 770, 776 [false statements have “no constitutional value” because they “harm both the subject of the falsehood and the readers of the statement”]; *Balboa Island Village Inn, Inc. v. Lemen* (2007) 40 Cal.4th 1141, 1147). Yelp has no First Amendment right to distribute defamatory speech any more than the speaker has to create the speech in the first instance. Thus, to the extent that Yelp believes that it has a right to perpetuate defamation because it has a separate First Amendment right to distribute speech, it is entirely mistaken. There is no constitutional purpose in protecting the publication of proven lies.

Yelp admits that its due process arguments are largely based on the false premise that it has a First Amendment right to post proven libel. (OBM, 19). Without the protective cover of the First Amendment, Yelp’s due process argument withers. Yelp must, and cannot, identify any other protected interest that would trigger due process considerations. (*Bd. of Regents v. Roth* (1972) 408 U.S. 564, 570). Further, Yelp cannot escape the well-established rule that an injunction may run to classes of persons through whom the enjoined party may act. (*People ex rel. Gwinn v. Kothari* (2000) 83 Cal.App.4th 759, 766-767).

¹ References to Yelp’s Opening Brief on the Merits are designated “OBM.” References to the Court of Appeal’s opinion are designated “Op.” References to Appellate Record are designated by “AA” followed by the volume number, tab number, and page numbers, e.g. AA.V1.T3.1-3.

Yelp's brief is also marred by a fundamental and irreconcilable inconsistency. For purposes of its constitutional arguments Yelp insists that it is a publisher, but for purposes of its argument that the Communications Decency Act shields it from liability, it distances itself from the speech at issue, emphasizing that it played no role in the creation of the defamatory speech. The CDA was never intended to permit freewheeling defamation on the internet. Simply put, the CDA does not grant Yelp license to republish judicially determined libel in perpetuity.

Imagine an advertisement on the New York Times website falsely proclaiming that a person is a rapist or a serial killer. Under Yelp's reasoning, the website can never be compelled to remove the advertisement, even if the statements contained therein are proven in a court of law to be false. Yelp ascribes to Hassell a nefarious plan to undermine free speech and flout the law when in fact its own conduct must be scrutinized. Hassell simply followed the law. Indeed, she tried to resolve the matter out of court with both Bird and Yelp. Only after being met with outright refusal from both did she seek relief to which she is lawfully entitled.

III. STATEMENT OF FACTS AND PROCEDURE.²

A. Yelp Is A Business That Permits Third Parties to Post Anonymous, Unvetted Comments Online.

Yelp hosts an online directory of businesses that permits users to post comments and rank businesses on a scale of one to five stars. Yelp

² The relevant background of the case is set forth accurately and in detail in the Court of Appeal's opinion. (Op., 2-10). As Yelp did not seek rehearing, this Court should accept the Court of Appeal's statement of the issues and facts, which is more complete and balanced than the statement Yelp offers. (See Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.500(c)(2)).

sells paid advertising to businesses that runs alongside the user comments. Businesses cannot opt out of being listed on Yelp. (See *Levitt v. Yelp! Inc.* (9th Cir. 2014) 765 F.3d 1123, 1126).³

Yelp's online directory is akin to a neighborhood bulletin board: Yelp permits third parties to post anonymous, unvetted, and unedited comments to the directory. Comments can be removed by the reviewer. In addition, Yelp states that it may remove reviews for violating its Terms of Service or Content Guidelines such as "writing a fake or defamatory review." (AA.V3.T27.00748; see also AA.V3.T27.00757).⁴ In addition, Yelp uses an undisclosed algorithm to highlight or hide certain reviews. (AA.V3.T33.00838; see *Levitt*, 765 F.3d at 1126).

B. Bird Posts Defamatory Comments On Yelp.

Plaintiffs and Respondents Hassell Law Group and its principal, attorney Dawn Hassell (collectively "Hassell" or "Plaintiffs"), represented Defendant Ava Bird in a personal injury case for less than a month in the summer of 2012. During that time, Hassell had at least two communications with Allstate Insurance Company about Bird's injury claim and notified Bird about those communications via e-mail. Hassell also had dozens of direct communications with Bird by e-mail and phone and at least one in-person meeting.

Bird, however, was largely nonresponsive to these communications. She failed to return promptly a signed insurance authorization, and did not respond to repeated attempts to set up a phone conference to discuss her

³ "How do I add a business to Yelp?", Yelp, available at https://www.yelp-support.com/article/How-do-I-add-a-business-to-Yelp?l=en_US (last visited Jan. 23, 2017).

⁴ Yelp's Terms of Service, available at <https://www.yelp.com/static?p=tos> (last visited Jan. 23, 2017).

case. (AA.V1.T6.00054-55, 74-86; AA.V1.T7.00144-145, 168-183). After these communication difficulties, Hassell withdrew from representation on September 13, 2012. At the time, Bird had 21 months before the expiration of the statute of limitations on her personal injury claim, and had not lost any rights or claims relating to her injury. (AA.V1.T6.00055).

In response, Ava Bird wrote a defamatory post on Yelp that seriously and measurably harmed Hassell's business. (AA.V1.T.6.A00055 [the "January Post"]). The post, under the moniker "Birdzeye B.," gave Plaintiff one star of an available five stars, and contained malicious and false statements such as "dawn hassell made a bad situation much worse for me," "the hassell group didn't speak to the insurance company either," and that Hassell indicated "the insurance company was too much for her to handle." (AA.V1.T1. 00018).

Hassell attempted to contact Bird by phone to discuss the posting, but she failed to return the call, so the firm sent her an email "requesting she remove the factual inaccuracies and defamatory remarks from her Yelp.com written statement." (AA.V1.T6.00056, 94). Bird responded by email the next day, stating, among other things, that "you deserve the review I have given you on yelp," and "you will have to accept the permanent" review. (AA.V1.T6.00056, 95). Even though in her Yelp post, Bird had stated that Hassell had not communicated with her or with the insurance company, Bird's email to Hassell admitted that there were multiple email communications with Hassell and that Hassell had contacted the insurance company multiple times. (AA.V1.T6.00095-98). Bird also refused to remove the post stating that she posted it to "be a lesson to you," threatened to have a friend post another bad review, and stated that she

“giggled at the thought” of a defamation suit and would “be happy to present the evidence to the judge...” She concluded the email “FUCK YOU DAWN HASSELL, A CALLOUS, HEARTLESS, NO-GOOD ATTORNEY.” (*Id.*) Hassell did not respond.

Days later, Bird posted another review under the moniker “J.D.” (AA.V1.T6.57, 99-101[the “February Post”]). Hassell understood that Bird was “J.D.” because Hassell never represented a client with the initials J.D., and because the February Post was published shortly after the January Post and used similar language. (*Id.*) In addition, the posting was from Alameda, where Bird was served, and it was a first-time posting for that user. (*Id.*)

C. After Bird Refuses To Remove The Review, And Writes A Second One, Hassell Institutes An Action Against Bird For Defamation And Asks Yelp To Remove The Reviews.

Because the defamatory postings had palpably harmed the law firm’s business and Bird refused to remove them, Hassell filed suit against Bird on April 10, 2013. (AA.V1.T1.00001-21). The Complaint alleged four causes of action for damages relating to the “Birdzeye B.” and “J.D.” posts, (*id.* at 6-13), and a fifth cause of action for injunctive relief based on the continued irreparable harm to their business resulting from Bird’s defamatory posts. (*Id.* at 13). The prayer sought to enjoin Bird from continuing to defame Hassell, and requiring her to remove every defamatory review, from Yelp.com and elsewhere. (*Id.*) The Complaint attached the Yelp postings at issue. (AA.V1.T1.00015-20).

Over the next week, after Hassell made many attempts to serve Bird personally, they finally effected substitute service on April 17, 2013. (AA.V1.T3.00024-27). Just over a week later, on April 29, 2013, Bird “updated” her original post with a new post, stating that “Dawn Hassell has

filed a lawsuit against me over this review.” “She has tried to threaten, bully, intimidate, harrass [sic] me into removing the review!” (AA.V1.T6.00057, 102-105[the “April Post”]).

Not long after Bird was served, Yelp received actual notice of the litigation. On May 13, 2013, only one month after the Complaint was filed, Hassell’s attorney sent Yelp’s General Counsel (and its support page) a letter enclosing the file-stamped Complaint and explaining that Hassell expected Yelp “will cause these two utterly false and unprivileged reviews to be removed as soon as possible.” (AA.V3.T21.00601-601, 00617-634). The Complaint and letter plainly raised both the demand and practical reality that if Ms. Bird refused to take down the reviews, some affirmative conduct by Yelp would be the only way to stop the ongoing defamation. (*Id.*; see also AA.V3.T33.00837:13-15).

D. The Trial Court Enters A Default And Conducts An Evidentiary Hearing.

Neither Bird nor Yelp appeared in the action. On June 20, 2013, Hassell filed a Request for Entry of Default, and served the same upon Bird. (AA.V1.T3, T5.00031). On June 28, 2013, Plaintiffs received a letter from the Bar Association of San Francisco stating that Bird had expressed interest in mediating the dispute. Hassell conveyed an offer to Bird through the mediator to dismiss the lawsuit in exchange for Bird’s removal of her defamatory reviews on Yelp or her agreement not to publish any further defamatory reviews. Bird never responded to the proposal, and mediation efforts quickly ceased. (AA.V1.T5.00031-32).

Plaintiffs’ requested default was entered on July 11, 2013. (AA.V1.T3.00023). Hassell then moved for a default judgment. A hearing on the application for default judgment and request for injunctive

relief was set for January 14, 2014. (AA.V1.T4.00028-29).

The trial court reviewed and heard extensive evidence and argument in support of Hassell's claims, ranging from Bird's email admitting she had posted the review to teach Ms. Hassell "a lesson," (AA.V1.T6.00096), to Plaintiffs' efforts to serve Bird (AA.V1.T3.00024-26, AA.V1.T6.00124-140), to Bird's affirmative refusal to mediate the lawsuit, (AA.V1.T5.31-32), to detailed explanations why each of the reviews was demonstrably false, (AA.V1.T6-7), as well as thorough briefing on the merits of each claim, (AA.V1.T5.00036-51). Plaintiffs' briefing explained that if Bird refused to comply with the requested injunction, the only way to remove the posts would be a court order requiring Yelp to do so. (AA.V1.T5.50-51). Hassell also produced substantial documentation proving that Bird's statements were untrue.

E. The Trial Court Enters A Money Judgment And Injunction, Enforceable Through Yelp, Against Bird.

After the evidentiary hearing, the Court granted most of the relief Hassell sought. (AA.V1.T8.00211; AA.V1.T9.00212-216). It ordered \$557,918.85 in damages against Bird, denied the request for punitive damages, and granted injunctive relief. (*Id.*). The Judgment and Order provided:

...Defendant AVA BIRD is ordered to remove each and every defamatory review published or caused to be published by her about plaintiffs HASSELL LAW GROUP and DAWN HASSELL from Yelp.com and from anywhere else they appear on the internet within 5 business day of the date of the court's order.

Defendant AVA BIRD, her agents, officers, employees or representatives, or anyone acting on her behalf, are further enjoined

from publishing or causing to be published any written reviews, commentary, or descriptions of DAWN HASSELL or the HASSELL LAW GROUP on Yelp.com or any other internet location or website.

Yelp.com is ordered to remove all reviews posted by AVA BIRD under user names “Birdzeye B.” and “J.D.” attached hereto as Exhibit A and any subsequent comments of these reviewers within 7 business days of the date of the court’s order.

(AA.V1.T9.00213). Exhibit A attached the January Post, the February Post and the April Post. (*Id.* at 00212-215).

F. Hassell Give Yelp Notice, And Yelp Refuses To Intervene And Refuses To Remove The Adjudicated Defamatory Statements.

Plaintiffs hand-delivered the Judgment and Order, with a letter requesting that Yelp remove the posts, on January 15, 2014.

(AA.V3.T27.00704-718; AA.V3.T28.00798-799). Plaintiffs then personally served Yelp’s agent for service of process with the Order on January 29, 2014, along with a letter again requesting that Yelp remove the three posts. (AA.V3.T27.00720-730).

Yelp ignored the judgment and flatly refused to remove the libelous posts. Yelp’s Senior Director of Litigation Aaron Schur responded by letter dated February 3, 2014, claiming that Yelp was not subject to the injunction, that the default was improper, and that Plaintiffs had not adequately proved that Bird posted the reviews or that the reviews were defamatory. (AA.V3.T27.00732-734). He wrote:

[T]he judgment and order are rife with deficiencies and Yelp sees no reason at this time to remove the reviews at issue. Of course, Yelp has no desire to display defamatory content on its site, but the

defamation must be proven. A default judgment through a bench trial in a lawsuit in which it does not appear the defendant was ever served is an insufficient basis for Yelp to consider the review of Birdzeye B. to be defamatory – much less the review of J.D. Yelp would revisit its decision if the facts change, for example, if it receives evidence that the defendant is actually served, fails to defend herself, and is responsible for both reviews.

(AA.V3.T27.00734). In other words, Yelp chose to credit its own disingenuous⁵ analysis over the court’s judgment after a default prove-up hearing.

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